
into depth in areas which commonly cause the most problems or raise the most

questions. As a result, this reference will also be extremely useful to sailors

serving as judges on a protest committee. The most useful appeals and cases

are quoted or referenced with the discussion of each rule; and each discussion

goes into sufficient depth to provide the answers or at least the guidelines to

resolve most protests or questions which come up. Both competitors and judges

will find the extensive use and reference to the appeals and cases very useful

and timesaving when they are either lodging a protest or trying to resolve one

in the hearing.

NOTE: At the time this book was published, World Sailing had not yet

completed their revisions of their Case Book; therefore the quotes from the

cases may not be 100% accurate. I expect that the substance of the interpre-

tations are accurate, but encourage you to double-check the actual cases. You

can find both the Appeals and the Case books at: ussailing.org/competition/

rules-offiating/appeals. 

I wish to point out that my opinions expressed in this book are my personal

opinions, and not those of the US Sailing Appeals Committee of which I am a

member.

It is nearly impossible to race sailboats without getting involved in some

rules-related situations, whether it’s in a crowded mark rounding, a protest

hearing, a measurement problem, or an appeal. It is my hope that this book,

which blends the rules and the appeals and cases together, will answer most of

your rules questions and expand your knowledge and awareness of what is in

the US Sailing Appeals and World Sailing Cases so that you can continue to

satisfy your own rules curiosity into the future, and feel confident that you in

fact do understand the rules yourself.

This book will be published every four years with the revisions of The Racing

Rules of Sailing. As it is my goal to provide a useful and accurate reference for

all sailors, I welcome your comments and suggestions concerning improvements

and inaccuracies. Please send them to my attention by May 1, 2028, or sooner

at: 239 Barberry Road, Southport, CT 06890.

And now, enjoy your understanding of the rules!

Good Sailing, 

Dave Perry
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Part 3 and Part 4
Conduct of a Race and 
Other Requirements 
When Racing 
Part 3 contains the rules that govern the conduct of a race (rules 25–37). Part

4 contains other rules that govern us while we are racing (rules 40–56). Most

of the rules are straightforward and simple to understand. I’ll focus on the five

for which an explanation might be helpful: rule 31 (Touching a Mark), rule 42

(Propulsion), rule 44 (Penalties at the Time of an Incident), rule 47 (Trash Dis-

posal), and rule 55 (Setting and Sheeting Sails). Note rule 43 (Exoneration) is

discussed in chapter 8.

R U L E  3 1  —  T O U C H I N G  A  M A R K

While racing, a boat shall not touch a starting mark before starting, a mark

that begins, bounds or ends the leg of the course on which she is sailing, or a

finishing mark after finishing.

Prior to the 1969–73 rules, if you touched a mark and it was your fault, you

had to drop out of the race. In the 1968 Olympics in Mexico, the late Carl Van

Duyne, sailing the Finn for the United States, saw the leech of his main touch

the windward mark as he rounded it in first place. Despite the claims of the

race officer at the mark who insisted that Carl did not touch the mark, Carl
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withdrew from the race. From this example and others, the rule writers saw

the obvious over-severity of this penalty for the infraction, and changed the

rule to permit sailors to take a penalty when they accidentally touch a mark.

Notice that the rule applies only while you are racing, which is the time

from your preparatory signal until you have finished and cleared the finishing

line and finishing marks. Also, if the starting line is set to leeward of the leeward

mark on the first leg or the finishing line is set to windward of the windward

mark on the last leg, that leeward or windward mark does not begin, bound or

end that first or last leg so there is no penalty for touching it. Otherwise, when

you touch a starting or finishing mark, or any mark that begins, bounds or ends

a leg on which you are sailing, you have broken rule 31.

When you’ve broken rule 31 and want to take a penalty, rule 44 (Penalties

at the Time of an Incident) tells you how to do that. You must first get well

clear of other boats as soon as possible after touching the mark (not half-way

down the leg!). Then, once clear you must promptly (i.e., without delay) make

“one turn” including one tack and one gybe. Notice that your turn does not

need to be a complete 360-degree turn (see Case 108). Nor does it matter

whether you do the tack or gybe first. As long as you have completed one tack

and one gybe, you are all set. (See rule 44.2 for full discussion). While you are

making your turn, you have to keep clear of other boats under rule 21.2 (Start-

ing Errors; Taking Penalties; Backing a Sail). Once you have completed your

turn, you have completed your penalty and the rules of Section A apply to you

again. Remember, if you acquire right of way over another boat after your turn,

you have to initially give them room to keep clear under rule 15 (Acquiring

Right of Way).

“If I hit one of the starting marks after the preparatory signal but well

before the starting signal, when can I make my penalty turn?”

As soon as possible! In fact you are required to do so under rule 44.2 (One-

Turn and Two-Turns Penalties). The rationale is that the penalty should fit the

crime. Touching the mark three minutes before your start probably has little

effect on anyone’s race; likewise your penalty turn will be of little adverse con-

sequence to you. However, touching it ten seconds before the start means that

you are probably somewhere you shouldn’t be and are likely adversely affecting

the start for others; by the same token, making a penalty turn while others are

starting will be of more negative consequence to you.
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“What do I do if I accidentally hit the finishing mark after I’ve finished

but before I’ve cleared the mark?”

If you touch a finishing mark before you have cleared the finishing line and

marks (i.e., while you are still racing), you should take a One-Turn Penalty.

You can make your penalty turn anywhere, but you then have to cross the

finishing line again from the course side of the line. The second time you cross

will be your finishing place or time. (See rule 44.2, the definition Finish, and the

discussion of the definition Racing for a discussion on when you have cleared

the finishing marks.)

Notice rule 44.1(b), “However, if the boat…despite taking a penalty, gained

a significant advantage in the race or series by her breach her penalty shall be

to retire.” This is clearly intended to deter boats from sailing into situations

where they calculate that they can hit the mark, do a quick penalty turn and

still come out well ahead of where they would be had they not done so. One

example is at a crowded windward mark with a long line of starboard-tackers,

where there is not enough space for a port-tacker (P) to tack in to leeward of

the starboard-tackers and make it around the mark without either fouling the

starboard-tackers or hitting the mark. P could probably come out ahead by

hitting the mark and doing a quick penalty turn as opposed to ducking the
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The penalty for touching a mark is a One-Turn Penalty that includes a tack and a gybe.
The turn does not need to be a full 360 degree turn; i.e., after the boat has done a tack
and a gybe (in either order) it may continue in the race.

line of starboard-tackers, but this wouldn’t be fair; hence the rule against it in

rule 44.1(b).

“What happens when I’m forced to touch a mark by another boat that

was required to keep clear of me or give me room or mark-room?”

Whenever you touch a mark, you have three options:

1) If it was your own fault that you touched the mark, you can get clear

of other boats and take your penalty as described in rule 44.2.

2) If another boat wrongfully compelled you to hit the mark, you are exon -

erated (freed from penalty) by rule 43.1 (Exoneration; see the discussion

of rule 43 in chapter 8). Of course, if you are protested, the protest

committee will decide if you are exonerated by rule 43.1. That is why it

is prudent for you to protest the other boat (by hailing the word “Protest”

and, if required, flying your flag at the first reasonable opportunity). If

the other boat acknowledges breaking a rule of Part 2 and takes a penalty

(Two-Turns or Scoring Penalty, etc. under rule 44) or retires from the

race, the protest committee will likely decide you are exonerated by

rule 43.1 for breaking rule 31 (Touching a Mark), provided it decides

that it was that breach that caused you to touch the mark. If the other

boat does not take a penalty, you must hope the protest committee decides

that in fact it was the other boat’s Part 2 rule breach that compelled you

to touch the mark, in which case it will disqualify the other boat and

confirm your exoneration. If it doesn’t, you will be disqualified under

rule 60.5(c) (Protest Decisions) for breaking rule 31.

3) If you believe another boat wrongfully compelled you to hit the mark,

you can do a penalty turn; i.e., take the penalty in rule 44.2 as “insur-

ance.” You can then protest the other boat if you choose to. If the protest

committee decides the other boat broke a rule, she will be disqualified.

Note: You cannot be compensated for your loss of time and distance

during your voluntary penalty. If the protest committee decides she didn’t

break a rule, you will not be disqualified for breaking rule 31 because you

already took a penalty for that (see rule 60.5(c)(2), Protest Decisions).

“Does it count if just my head brushes against the mark?”

Absolutely yes. In the Introduction of The Racing Rules of Sailing under ‘Ter -

mi  nology’ it says, “‘Boat’ means a sailboat and the crew on board, that are
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subject to the rules.” In fact, if you have a late spinnaker take-down and your

spinnaker sheet trails behind the boat and rubs against the mark after you’re

already around and a boat-length away from it, you still have to take your

penalty. Case 77 sums it up, “A boat touches a mark within the meaning of

rule 31 when any part of her hull, crew or equipment comes in contact with

the mark. The fact that her equipment touches the mark because she has maneu-

vering or sail-handling difficulties does not excuse her breach of the rule.”

“If I get the mark’s anchor line caught on my centerboard but quickly

raise my board and clear the line before I touch the mark, have I hit the

mark? What happens when I’m not so quick and the mark is dragged in

and touches my boat?”

Remember that the anchor line of a mark is not part of the mark (see the defi-

nition Mark). So, on a race committee boat with a high bow, where 15 feet of

anchor line may be above the water, the mark begins at the bow of the boat.

The same is true when a mark’s anchor line is partially or wholly submerged.

In both cases, there is no penalty for touching the line. However, if touching its

anchor line causes the mark to be drawn against your boat, you have touched

the mark and must do a penalty turn or protest. Appeal 10 reads, “If, however,

fouling its anchor line causes the mark to be drawn against the boat, the boat

has broken rule 31.” 

“What if I foul another boat and hit a mark in the same incident?”

Good question. Rule 44.1(a) (Taking a Penalty) says, “However, when a boat

may have broken a rule of Part 2 and rule 31 in the same incident she need not

take the penalty for breaking rule 31.” Therefore, when a Two-Turns Penalty

or a Scoring Penalty under rule 44 is available, and you choose to take that

penalty, you do not have to also do an additional penalty turn for hitting the

mark. 

R U L E  4 2  —  P R O P U L S I O N

R U L E  4 2 . 1  —  B A S I C  R U L E

Except when permitted in rule 42.3 or rule 45, a boat shall compete by using

only the wind and water to increase, maintain or decrease her speed. Her crew

may adjust the trim of sails and hull, and perform other acts of seamanship,

but shall not otherwise move their bodies to propel the boat.
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